



FUNCTIONAL ELECTRICAL STIMULATION CYCLING IN ACUTE CARE FOR SPINAL CORD INJURY REHABILITATION: **A TOOLKIT FOR HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS**

Contributors:

Hope Jervis-Rademeyer¹, Srijana Gautam¹, Stephanie Cornell^{2,3}, Janelle Khan⁴, Danielle Wilanowski⁵, Kristin E. Musselman^{6,7}, Vanessa K. Noonan⁸, Dalton L. Wolfe^{2,3,9}, Riccardo Baldini, Steven Kennedy¹, Chester Ho^{1,10}

5 Cycling toolist

Affiliations:

¹Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
²Parkwood Institute, St. Joseph's Health Care, , London, Ontario
³Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario
⁴Royal Alexandra Hospital, Alberta Health Services, Edmonton, Alberta
⁵University of Alberta Hospital, Alberta Health Services, Edmonton, Alberta
⁶Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Sciences Institute, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario
⁷KITE Research Institute-University Health Network, Toronto, Ontario
⁸Praxis Spinal Cord Institute, Vancouver, British Columbia
⁹University of Western, London, Ontario

Funding Sources:

Campus Alberta Neuroscience The Alberta Paraplegic Foundation Spinal Cord Injury Endowed Chair Research Funds University of Alberta

Acknowledgements: Royal Alexandra Hospital, Edmonton, Alberta University of Alberta Hospital, Edmonton, Alberta Restorative Therapies for some images Focus Group Participants Dirk Evergert



66

"Well, I was going to take [FES cycling] as far as I possibly could. The difference between being in a wheelchair and walking in a walker is like flying to the moon. I mean, it's just so different. A lot of people I don't think realize that....And, of course, going from the walker to a cane, and then from dropping the cane, it's just each step is like going to a completely new planet. So, it is quite remarkable."

- FES Cycling User

DISCLAIMER

The toolkit has been specifically designed for the implementation of functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling for spinal cord injury (SCI) rehabilitation using the RT 300 FES leg cycle at the University of Alberta Hospital and the Royal Alexandra Hospital located in Edmonton, Alberta with the expertise of multiple stakeholders. However, this toolkit may be used to inform FES cycling rehabilitation at other sites, settings, and for other conditions.



Table of Contents

1. Introduction and Rationale	5
2. How can FES cycling help me?	6
a. Benefits ⁸⁻¹² b. Risks ^{12,13}	6
3. Patient Screening	8
a. Indications ^{2,14–27} b. Relative contraindications, absolute contraindications, and comorbidities ^{2,5,9,10,15,22,24} .	8
4. Dosage parameters, muscle selection, and outcome measures	14
a. Dosage parameters and progression b. Muscle selection c. Outcome measures	14 16 16
5. Bike Login, Setup, and Modifications	17
a. Creating a new patient ID b. Login and logout procedures c. Patient details and session information d. Configure settings e. Physical Set-up for acute care	17 18 19 20
6. Before, During, and After Functional Electrical Stimulation Cycling	24
a. Before the FES cycling session b. During the FES cycling session c. After the FES cycling session	24 26 28
7. Sustainable practice and transitions in care	30
a. Onboarding new team members b. Electrode ordering and selection c. Vendor information d. Community resources	30 30 30 31
Glossary	32
References	33

1. Introduction and Rationale



AIM: To provide health care providers with easy access to evidence-based material about functional electrical stimulation (FES) cycling and the tools to inform its implementation in acute care spinal cord injury (SCI) rehabilitation.

FES cycling falls under the broad term activity-based therapy (ABT). Musselman et al. 2018 define ABT as "therapeutic activities that involve repetitive neuromuscular activation below the level of spinal injury, typically achieved through intensive, task-specific movement practice."¹

FES cycling uses electrical impulses which stimulate and contract the muscles. As a result, cyclic movement occurs using the legs and/or arms. Earlier studies testing FES cycling for SCI rehabilitation in acute care have shown that this therapy can prevent the loss of muscle mass, increase muscle power, and decrease the rate of bone mineral density loss²³. Engaging in FES cycling in the acute care phase, when the potential for neurorecovery is greatest, could be more beneficial than later implementation. FES cycling has been implemented as early as two to three weeks after the initial injury, with few complications and/or dropouts^{4–6}. Importantly, individuals living with SCI would like to start activity-based therapy, for example FES cycling, as early as possible in their rehabilitation⁷.

2. How can FES cycling help me?

a. Benefits⁸⁻¹²

Target area	Potential benefit from FES cycling
Cardiovascular	 Improve blood flow Decrease glucose and insulin levels in blood Improve and maintain cardiovascular conditioning Increase in lean muscle mass and capillary numbers
Muscle health and movement	 Increase muscle size and strength Improve muscle composition Improve fatigue resistance Improve rate of soft tissue healing Reduce swelling Prevent disuse atrophy
Bone health	 Prevent loss of bone mineral density Improve bone health in lower limbs Improve rate of fracture healing Increase joint range of motion
Spasms and spasticity	 Reduce frequency and/or intensity of muscle spasms Reduce effects of spasticity
Cardiometabolic	Reduce amount of adipose tissue
Secondary complications	 Decrease chance of infections Decrease chance of pressure injuries Decrease chance of fractures
Other	 Increase ISNSCI* score in lower extremity Recovery of movement below the level of the injury

International Standards for Neurological Classification of Spinal Cord Injury





b. Risks 12,13

The potential risks of FES cycling include:

- Fatigue
- Brief drop in blood pressure
- Increased spasticity
- Light-headedness
- Skin <u>redness</u>
- Incontinence
- Leg swelling
- Autonomic dysreflexia
- Quadriceps hematoma
- Bone fracture



3. Patient Screening

a. Indications 2,14-27

- Muscle atrophy
- Reduced lean body mass
- Reduced muscle cross sectional area
- Poor insulin sensitivity
- Poor glucose control
- Cardiovascular deconditioning
- Unhealthy or unfavourable adipose % or body mass index
- Loss of bone density
- Loss of lower extremity strength
- Reduced power output in lower extremities
- Presence of spasticity
- Poor quality of life
- Reduced self esteem
- Poor sense of wellbeing
- Reduced VO2 max and physical endurance
- Reduced lung health and function
- Presence of spasms

The RT 300 FES motorized cycle ergometer is classified as a Class 2 medical device by Health Canada²⁸. The specific indications for the RT 300 include:

- Muscle re-education
- Prevention or delay of disuse atrophy
- Maintain or increase range of motion
- Increase local blood circulation
- Relax muscle spasms

b. Relative contraindications, absolute contraindications, and comorbidities 2,5,9,10,15,22,24,



*Comorbidities refer to other medical conditions that may interfere with how a patients respond to FES cycling. Some of these conditions may put them at higher risk of unfavourable outcomes or may prevent them from being able to participate in the program.





cycling tooli

These are absolute contraindications to FES cycling ranked in order from least to most severe:

Absolute Contraindication	Description	Severity
Rotator cuff tear	Grade 3 or greater rotator cuff tear	
Pressure ulcers in buttocks or legs	 Recent pressure injury Pressure injury greater than grade 2 Skin breakdown that limits the ability to sit for 30 mins 	•
Cardiac demand pacemaker* (if applied to thoracic wall)	Details provided below	
Fractures	 Recent unstable fractures Long bone or pelvic fractures Fragility fractures Lower limb fractures in the past 6 months 	
Pregnancy	Not been tested in pregnant women	

Proceed with Caution: Functional electrical stimulation use with patients who have a pacemaker or implantable cardiac defibrillator⁴⁰⁻⁴³

Consider having a conversation with the health care team about using FES cycling with a patient who has a pacemaker or implantable cardiac defibrillator. There is limited information that directly discusses FES use for cycling with patients with SCI who also have a pacemaker (PM). However, inferences are made about a similar treatment (TENS) and the effects on cardiac pacemakers or implantable cardiac defibrillators (ICDs). It is possible that devices that use electrical stimulation, such as TENS or FES, may interfere with a PM or ICD. This can include administering extra shocks or preventing shocks from occurring altogether. It appears that the risk is higher when the machine's electrodes are placed closer to the thoracic wall or the site of device implantation and lessens as they are placed further from this site. The settings used on the machine may also have implications on the risk associated with a PM or ICD.

These are precautions to FES cycling ranked in order from least to most harmful:

Precaution	Description	Severity
Lower motor neuron involvement	 Lower motor neuron injury Absence of spinal reflexes Neurological degenerative diseases Total denervation that precludes the use of FES Flaccid paralysis in response to FES 	
Psychological/ cognitive disorder	 Cognitive difficulties or disorders Psychological instability Severe symptoms of depression or anxiety Recent history of alcohol abuse for which treatment was recommended 	
Active infectious disease	Consider site of disease and severity	
Contractures	 Contractures of hip and knee preventing full ROM on bike Less than 90 degrees flexion of hip and knees 	
Heterotopic ossification	Severe joint calcificationsAway from site of stimulation	
Metal implants	Newly placed	





Severe pain	Uncontrolled painComplex regional pain syndrome	
Active epiphysis		
Allergies	Allergy to electrodesSkin reactions to electrodes or FES	•
Joint instability	History of knee subluxation or dislocationHip dislocation	•
Seizures/Epilepsy	Seizure historyDiagnosis of epilepsy	•
Less severe pressure injury	• Pressure injury lower than grade 2	•
Diseases of bone metabolism	 Osteoporosis Diseases or medications known to affect bone metabolism Dual Xray absorptiometry T-score less than -2.5 	•
Autonomic dysreflexia (AD)	 Uncontrolled or poorly controlled autonomic dysreflexia Severe AD in response to electrical stimulation Vasomotor instability Frequent or severe bouts of AD 	•
Hypertension	 Uncontrolled hypertension Understand what constitutes high blood pressure on an individual basis for each patient, this number may vary 	•
Regenerating nerves in the treatment area		
Medications	Chronic steroid treatment	

Clotting abnormalities and prolonged bleeding times	Full dose anticoagulationThrombophlebitis	
Endocrinopathies	 Severe diabetes Uncontrolled hyperglycemia or HbAlc >%7 Untreated thyroid disease 	
Malignancy	 Lower limb malignancy T6 and below spinal malignancy Consult with oncologist 	
Cardiovascular disease	 Chronic arterial disease Unstable cardiovascular disease Uncontrolled arrhythmia Angina Congestive heart failure 	
Thrombosis	 Recent, untreated venous thromboembolism (within past 3 months) Current deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism 	







a. Dosage parameters and progression

Although there are default settings that are common to use when starting patients on FES cycling programs (see table below), it is important to recognize that pain, apprehension, and other factors related to the injury may limit stimulation amplitudes and duration6. The progression of stimulation should be highly individualized especially in the first 3 months post-injury. It is appropriate to increase amplitudes in small increments from session to session especially in the first 4 weeks if patients do not experience problems such as pain, discomfort, increased spasticity, or issues in blood pressure regulation during or after FES cycling. In general, as they progress further



into the program, patients require less frequent (every 3-5 sessions) increases in stimulation.

It is also important to note that patients may not be able to produce contractions strong enough to cycle with zero resistance, therefore motor support should be used to cycle with muscle stimulation continuing at maximally tolerated level without producing undue discomfort or fatigue. The parameters below are suggestions only, they can be adjusted according to your own clinical judgment. Suggested parameters for functional electrical stimulation cycling⁶

Parameter	Example first session	Example progression (10 weeks)
Pulse width (µs)	300	300
Frequency (Hz)	40	40
Cadence (rpm)	20	40
Duration (minutes)	15	45
Number of sessions per week	3	3

Suggested intensity according to muscle group for functional electrical stimulation cycling⁶

Intensity	Example first session	Example progression (10 weeks)
Quadriceps (mA)	25	100
Hamstrings (mA)	30	80
Gluteals (mA)	35	100
Gastrocnemius (mA)	50	60

*It is also suggested to evaluate the strength of the muscle contraction and to determine whether the individual has sensation

"The effects of cycling usually lasted two, sometimes three, days after the cycling. [The] legs were more limber, [and] spasms were not so aggressive. I think it improved overall health afterwards. And the longer in between sessions, [limbs] would get stiff, and [the] spasms [would] be more aggressive and harder to control, so [I've] definitely seen that benefit there."

- FES Cycling User



FES



b. Muscle selection

Depending on the individual's goals and muscle capabilities, various muscle groups can be stimulated during FES cycling. However, it is common to always stimulate quadriceps and hamstrings, and combine these with gluteals and/ or gastrocnemius.



c. Outcome measures

Outcome measures recorded by the program: Average asymmetry, distance traveled, energy per hour (kCal), energy expended (kCal), average stimulation, power, speed, average pulse and peak pulse.

5. Bike Login, Setup, and Modifications

a. Creating a new patient ID -

https://www.rtilink.com

					Preferences	Change Password	I I Logost
Restorative			Home	Therapy info 🗸	Lists 🗸	FES @home	Education
ssion will limeout in 19:50 minutes.		RTILink				Time Sille: 9001741 RTI d	e Zone: US/East User: clinica Iemo clinic (CLIN
	New Patient Deta	ails					
	Patient Details		Month Year Born (m/yyyy)				
	Patient CC Email 2		Weight 2	0.10			
	Subscribe To Progress Email 2	2	Pediatric 2			•	
	Country	United States of America	Condition			•	
	PIN Number 2	0000	Session Efficiency 7			16	
	Patient Clinic 2	RTi demo clinic 9001741					
	Patient Clinic ID #						
		This ID can be left blank. PLEASE DO NOT ENTER PATIENT NAMES OR USE CLINIC REFERENCE NUMBERS ONLY	SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS HERE				
	Clinician	cinician *					
	Secondary Clinician	(Chonse)					

Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies

Overd	Default muscle assignment	e.	Therapy Templets	
8	Blateral		(RTI) System Default - Adult	
0	Biateral	•	(FIT) System Default - Adult	
0	Diateral	•	(RTI) Dystem Default - Adult	
0	Biateral	•	(RTE System Default - Adult	
0	Stateral		(RTI) System Default - Adult	
	×	R Status D D D D D Status D Status D D D Status D Status D Status D Status	Note Note 0 Note Note 0 Note Note 0 Note Note	With Comparison Matrix Strategies Matrix Strategies # Matrix Strategies [715 Spins Delate Land # Matrix Strategies [715 Spins Delate Land

Animation Avatar

See Carcel Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies



16





b. Login and logout procedures https://www.rtilink.com/datalink/login.htm

THER	APIES								
					R	FILink			
				User Ni Passwo	ame / Patier	nt ID imber		ot your password	\mathbf{i}
Copyright © 2019 R	e partive APIES e par de. ec.	rapies		Vensi	RTIL on 3.7.102 E	Ink Support Julid 0868 (2019- 1178 STRAV	09-25) 🔨		
							Preferences	Change Password	Logost
Restorative					Home	Therapy Info 🛩	Preferences Lists v	Change Passwere FES @home	Education
Restorative THERAPIES			RTILin	k	Home	Therapy Info 🛩	Prelevences Lists +	Change Password FES @home Tim Site: 9001741 RTI d	Education Education Date: clinician () emo clinic (CLINIC)
Restorative THERAPIES	Your contact Cinc Support @Home Process Service & Repar	Its at Restorat Gabrella Steffold Jan Schwab Andre Heuland	RTILin ive Therapies are: final attributions brances con final attributions brances con final attributions tax- in par balance to hours of Coversion Sean - Syna Balance	K PPi (442) 615-109 PPi 800 6005465 PPi 800-6055465	Home 7 340 x316	Therapy info 🗸	Pulmines Lists ¥	Charge Passeon FES @home Tim Sile: 9001741 RTI d	Education Education be:: Clinican () emo cline: (CUNIC)



FES Powered Systems courses for 2020 are scheduled for.

Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies

c. Patient details and session information

Restorative				Home	Therapy info y	Lists w	FFS @home	Educa
THERAPIES				Picking .	therapy and +	Loca +	rea grione	
Session will timeout in 19.40 minutes.			RTILink				Time Sile: 9001741 RTI de	Zone: U User i emo clinic
Patient Patient Descript Patient Sessions Charolt Patient	Patient 1035777 (A	Age 32) [79658]						
Results MET.Minutes	Cetails Therapies Animation							
	Patient Email 2							
	Patient CC Email 2							
	Subscribe To Progress Email 7	×						
	Country	United States of America						
	PIN Number 2	0787						
	Last Used Controller Serial No.	CM2459164						
	Date Privacy Acknowledged	04/01/2019 (m/d/yyyy)						
	Month Year Born	07/1967						
	Weight 7	192 lb						
	Tee Shirt Size							
	Pediatric 2	No						
	Condition	SCI						
	AIS	A						
	Level	C4						
	Session Efficiency 2	6%						

													Preferances	0 0	ange Passeo	d i Leged
Restorative										Home	Therap	yimfo 🛩	Lists 🗸	FE	5 @home	Educatio
ion will timeout in 19 45 minutes						F	RTILink							-	74 1001741 071	ve Zone USE User, clear demo clear (CL
Patient Extent Distribution Extent There were Results MET Mendes	RT300 Legs	9T300 Legs E1200 SusmiLess E1200 Anna E1200 Susma Anna E1200 E1200 Susmito E1200 Summito Ania														
	Patient	Patient 1035777 [79658]														
	Tatal 1903 and	56551011.	101	putier	11. 100	00111	Banasta 1.25									Page 1 .
	Therapy Name	Session Date (Patient	Patient Clinic ID #	Total session	Software Version	Motor Control Board Version	Controller 5/N	Average Asymmetry	Defance Travelled	Average Pulse	Peak Ene Pulse H	by per li bur Ex	Energy spended	Average Stimulation	Clinic Nar
	12 channel leg			79658	1 03 05	1.01.1046	5		Let 7 %	8.30 miles	NUA.	Nuiz. 16.0	kcaih 1	16.00 kcal	18.65 pl	RTI home pa
	12 channel leg	2019.10.11.11.14.30		79956	1.03.05	1.01.1046	5	CM2458164	Let 3 %	A 30 coles	No.	Paid 16.0	brain 1	15.01 hcar	18.92 pt 18.72 pt	RTI home o
	17 channel leg	2019 10.16 12 30 54		79658	1.03.05	1.01.1046	5	CM2459164	Left 6 %	8.31 miles	NOA.	N/A 16.0	kcalh 1	16.00 hcal	17.44 1/	RTI home p
	12 channel leg-	2019-10-14 12:29 55	1825777	79650	1.03.05	1.01.1046	5	CM2452754	Let 7 %	8.31 miles	N/2.	76.5	kcalh 1	16.14 kcal	12.06 pt	RTI home p
	12 channel leg	2019-10-09 12:50 04	1125777	79658	1.07.00	1.01.1046	5	CM2458154	Lets %	1.29 roles	No.	Nil 15.7	Realb 1	1571 kcal	17.13 pl	RTI home p
				Photo: I		101 101 100			Le85 %	8.16 mbes	N/A	RUA 15.7	Acath 1	15.49 hcal	15.93 µ	RTI home p
	12 charriel leg	2019-10-00 12-30-44		1.0000	1.03.28											DET Puterne de
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2010/10/00/12 20:44	1825777	79658	1 03 28	1.01.1046	5	CM2458184	0.5	8.14 miles	No.	NA 15.3	Realfy 1	15.12 kcal		den la como
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 17 channel leg	2010-10-00 12 30 44 2010-10-07 13 43 3 2010-10-06 13 33 56 2010-10-06 13 33 56	1825777 1825777 1825777	79658 79658 79658	1 03 28	1.01.1046	5	CM2458784 CM2458784 CM2458784	0 % Right 0 %	8.14 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles	No.	No. 15.3 No. 16.0	kcath 1 kcath 1	15.10 kcal 16.05 kcal	12.65 p	RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2015-10-08 12 36 4 2015-10-87 13 43 3 2015-10-86 13 33 5 2015-10-86 14 09 8 2015-10-85 14 09 8 2015-10-83 13 24 4	1825777 1825777 1825777 1825777	79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 28 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05	1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046	5	CM2459164 CM2459164 CM2459164 CM2459164	0 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 7 %	8.14 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.25 miles	NA NA NA	Null, 15.3 Null, 16.0 Null, 16.0 Null, 16.0	kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1	15.10 kcal 16.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 16.01 kcal	10.65 µ 10.99 µ 17.24 µ	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2015 10-00 12 30 4 2015 10-07 12 41 3 2015 10-06 12 33 5 2015 10-06 14 09 0 2015 10-03 14 09 0 2015 10-03 14 09 0 2015 10-03 14 09 0	NE25/77 NE25/77 NE25/77 NE25/77	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 28 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 06 1 08 19	1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046	5	CMCX02154 CMCX02154 CMCX02154 CMCX02154 CMCX02154	0 % Fight 5 % Left 7 % Left 1 %	8.34 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.25 miles 8.25 miles	NA NA NA NA	Nali, 15.3 Nali, 16.0 Nali, 16.0 Nali, 16.0 Nali, 15.7	kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1	15.10 kcal 14.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 14.01 kcal 15.75 kcal	10.05 µ 10.99 µ 17.24 µ 16.19 µ	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2019-10-08 12 38 4 2019-10-08 12 38 4 2019-10-08 13 33 58 2019-10-08 14 08 8 2019-10-08 14 09 8 2019-10-08 13 24 4 2019-10-08 13 24 30 2019-10-08 13 28 30	NU25777 NU25777 NU25777 NU25777 NU25777 NU25777	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 28 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 06 1 08 19 1 03 05	1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CMCx50154 CMCx50154 CMCx50154 CMCx50154 CMCx50154 CMCx50154	0 % Flight 0 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 12 %	8.34 miles 8.31 miles 8.35 miles 8.25 miles 8.29 miles 8.31 miles	NA NA NA NA NA	Nala, 15.3 Nala, 16.0 Nala, 16.0 Nala, 15.7 Nala, 15.7	kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1 kcath 1	15.10 kcal 16.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 16.01 kcal 15.75 kcal 16.12 kcal	18.65 pl 18.99 pl 17.24 pl 16.19 pl 16.12 pl	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2019-10-08 12 38 4 2019-10-08 12 38 4 2019-10-08 13 33 58 2019-10-08 13 33 58 2019-10-08 13 20 8 2019-10-08 13 24 40 11 2019-10-08 13 24 30 11 2019-10-08 13 22 37	8005/777 8025/777 8025/777 8025/777 8025/777 8025/777 8025/777	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 28 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05	1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046 1.01.1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354 CM2450354	0 % Right 0 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 12 % Left 6 %	8.14 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.25 mins 8.25 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins	NA NA NA NA NA	Nilk 15.3 Nilk 16.0 Nilk 16.0 Nilk 16.0 Nilk 15.7 Nilk 16.1 Nilk 16.0	kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1 kcalh 1	15.10 kcal 16.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 16.01 kcal 15.75 kcal 16.12 kcal 16.00 kcal	10.05 µ1 10.99 µ1 17.24 µ1 16.19 µ1 16.12 µ1 17.54 µ1	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 chainel leg 12 chainel leg	2010-10-08 12 30.4 2010-10-08 13 33.5 2010-10-08 13 33.5 2010-10-08 13 33.5 2010-10-08 13 23.5 2010-10-08 14 09.0 2010-10-08 14 09.0 2010-10-01 13 28 30 2010-09-30 13 22 37 2010-09-30 13 33 33	9825/777 9826/777 9825/777 9825/777 9825/777 9825/777 9825/777 9825/777	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 28 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 05 1 03 06 1 08 19 1 03 05 1 0 05 1 0 1 0 05 1 05 1 0 05 1 0 05 1 0 05 1 05	1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194 CM2450194	0 % Flight 8 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 12 % Left 6 % Left 5 %	8.14 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.25 mins 8.25 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins	84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84,	Nick 15.3 Nick 16.0 Nick 16.0 Nick 16.0 Nick 15.7 Nick 16.0 Nick 16.0 Nick 16.0	I Iscalh I Iscalh	15.10 kcal 16.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 15.01 kcal 15.75 kcal 16.12 kcal 16.00 kcal 16.13 kcal	18.45 µ ¹ 18.99 µ ¹ 17.24 µ ¹ 18.19 µ ¹ 18.12 µ ¹ 18.12 µ ¹ 18.12 µ ¹	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2015 10-00 12 304 3 2015 10-07 13 433 2015 10-07 13 433 2015 10-05 14 50 20 2015 10-05 14 50 20 2015 10-07 13 24 40 2015 10-07 13 24 40 2015 10-07 13 22 20 2015 10-07 13 23 20 2015 10-07 10 13 20 20	1925/77 1925/77 1925/77 1925/77 1925/77 1925/77 1925/77 1925/77	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 64 40 1 03 05 1 00 000000000000000000000000000000000	1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354 CM24582354	0 % Flight 8 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 12 % Left 5 % Left 5 % Left 4 %	8.14 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.25 mins 8.25 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins 8.31 mins	84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84,	Nata, 15, 39 Nata, 16, 0 Nata, 16, 0 Nata, 16, 0 Nata, 16, 1 Nata, 16, 1 Nata, 16, 1 Nata, 16, 1	I Icalb 1 I Icalb 1	15.10 kcal 14.05 kcal 16.02 kcal 16.01 kcal 15.75 kcal 14.12 kcal 16.03 kcal 16.13 kcal 16.03 kcal	16.65 ut 16.99 ut 17.24 ut 16.12 ut 17.84 ut 16.54 ut 16.55 ut	RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel ing 12 channel ing	2015 19-00 12 20 4 2015 19-00 12 20 4 2015 19-00 12 20 4 2015 19-00 12 20 5 2015 19-00 12 20 4 2015 19-00 12 20 4 2015 19-01 12 20 4 2015 19-01 12 20 4 2015 19-01 12 20 7 2015 19-01 12 20 7 2015 19-00 12 20 12 20 7 200 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77 9825/77	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 05 1 00 000000000000000000000000000000000	1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046 1.01 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE CARCESSIE	0 % Flight 0 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 1 % Left 2 % Left 5 % Left 5 % Left 4 % Left 2 %	8.14 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.25 miles 8.25 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles 8.31 miles	84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84, 84,	Nak 15.3 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0 Nak 15.7 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0 Nak 16.0	I Icalb 1 I Icalb 1 I Icalb 1 I Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1 Icalb 1	15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 16.02 kcm 15.07 kcm 15.75 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.00 kcm	14.45 p 14.99 p 17.24 p 14.19 p 14.12 p 14.12 p 15.14 p 16.14 p 16.15 p 16.14 p 16.15 p	RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel ing 12 channel ing	2015 10-00 12 20 4 2015 10-00 12 20 4 2015 10-01 12 23 5 2015 10-01 12 23 5 2015 10-01 12 23 5 2015 10-01 12 23 5 2015 10-01 12 22 4 2015 10-01 12 22 21 2015 40-20 13 21 22 21	 NUCCUT NUCUT <l< td=""><td>79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658</td><td>1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 05 1 00 000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td>1.01 1046 1.01 1046</td><td>0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5</td><td>CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE</td><td>8 % Flight 8 % Left 5 % Left 12 % Left 12 % Left 12 % Left 5 % Left 5 % Left 6 % Left 5 % Left 6 %</td><td>0.14 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.25 minut 0.31 minut</td><td>84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84.</td><td>Nat. 15.3 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 56.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 15.7 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0</td><td>I kcalls 1 I kcal</td><td>15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 16.01 kcm 15.75 kcm 16.01 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.13 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.04 kcm 16.04 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.01 kcm</td><td>12.05 µ 12.05 µ 14.99 µ 17.24 µ 16.12 µ 17.24 µ 17.24 µ 17.24 µ 16.24 µ 19.24 µ 19.</td><td>RTI home p RTI home p</td></l<>	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 05 1 00 000000000000000000000000000000000	1.01 1046 1.01 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE	8 % Flight 8 % Left 5 % Left 12 % Left 12 % Left 12 % Left 5 % Left 5 % Left 6 % Left 5 % Left 6 %	0.14 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.25 minut 0.31 minut	84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84.	Nat. 15.3 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 56.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 15.7 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0	I kcalls 1 I kcal	15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 16.01 kcm 15.75 kcm 16.01 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.13 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.03 kcm 16.04 kcm 16.04 kcm 16.00 kcm 16.01 kcm	12.05 µ 12.05 µ 14.99 µ 17.24 µ 16.12 µ 17.24 µ 17.24 µ 17.24 µ 16.24 µ 19.24 µ 19.	RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel ing 12 channel ing	2015 19-20 12,20,44 2015 19-20 12,43 22 2015 19-20 12,43 22 2015 19-20 12,43 22 2015 19-20 14,20 24 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,24 42 2015 19-20 12,32 42 2015 19-20 12,32 12 2015 2016 12,32 12 2017 2015 2016 12,32 12 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 <	1923 1925/77 1925/7	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 48 1 03 05 1 00 000000000000000000000000000000000	1.01 1046 1.01 1046	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CALCERSING CALCERSING	8 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 7 % Left 1 % Left 1 % Left 8 % Left 9 %	0.14 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.31 minut 0.25 minut 0.25 minut 0.31 minut 0	84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84.	Nat. 15.3 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 56.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.1 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0 Nat. 16.0	I kcalls 1 I kcal	15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 14.02 kcm 15.75 kcm 15.75 kcm 14.02 kcm 14.03 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 15.71 kcm	14.05 µ 14.09 µ 17.24 µ 17.24 µ 14.12 µ 14.12 µ 14.14 µ 14.55 µ 19.24 µ 19.34 µ 19.	RTI home p RTI home p
	12 channel leg 12 channel leg	2015-19-00 12 204 9 2015-2016 12 30 2 2015-20-01 12 2015-20-01 12 2015-20-01 12 2015-20-0	1923 1923 1923 <td>79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658</td> <td>1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 05 1 05 30 1 0 0 1 0 1</td> <td>1.01 1046 1.01 1046</td> <td>5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5</td> <td>CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE</td> <td>0 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 1 % Left 5 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 4 %</td> <td>1.14 minut 5.11 minut 5.11 minut 5.21 minut 5.21 minut 5.21 minut 5.31 minut</td> <td>844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844</td> <td>No.4, 15, 3 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 1 No.4, 16, 1 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 15, 7 No.4, 15, 7 No.4, 15, 7</td> <td>kcalb kcalb k</td> <td>15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 14.02 kcm 15.75 kcm 15.75 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.03 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.70 kcm</td> <td>11.05 y 14 11.05 y 14 11.05 y 14 11.02 y 14 11.12 y 14 11.14 y 14 11.14</td> <td>RTI home p RTI home p</td>	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 55 1 03 05 1 05 30 1 0 0 1 0 1	1.01 1046 1.01 1046	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE CALCEDISE	0 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 1 % Left 1 % Left 5 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 4 %	1.14 minut 5.11 minut 5.11 minut 5.21 minut 5.21 minut 5.21 minut 5.31 minut	844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844 844	No.4, 15, 3 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 1 No.4, 16, 1 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 16, 0 No.4, 15, 7 No.4, 15, 7 No.4, 15, 7	kcalb k	15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 14.02 kcm 15.75 kcm 15.75 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.03 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.71 kcm 15.70 kcm	11.05 y 14 11.05 y 14 11.05 y 14 11.02 y 14 11.12 y 14 11.14	RTI home p RTI home p
	12 dhaveri ing 12 dhaveri ing	2125.0024 2.2148 2. 2015 10-01 13 43 23 2015 10-01 13 43 23 2015 10-01 13 23 5 2015 10-01 13 22 43 2015 10-01 13 22 44 2015 10-01 13 22 44 2016 10-01 13 22 1 2016-02 20 13 22 13 20 11 2016-02 20 13 20 10 20 11 2016-02 20 13 22 13 20 11 2016-02 20 13 20 10 2016-02 20	19835.777 19835.777 <td< td=""><td>79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658</td><td>1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 05 1 05 05 1 0</td><td>1.01 1046 1.01 1046</td><td>0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5</td><td>CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE</td><td>0 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 7 % Left 1 % Left 3 % Left 8 % Left 4 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 8 %</td><td>1.14 minu 8.31 minu 8.31 minu 8.31 minu 8.29 minu 8.31 minu 8.32 minu</td><td>84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84.</td><td>No.8, 15, 3 No.2, 16, 0 No.2, 16, 0 No.2, 16, 17 No.2, 15, 17 No.2, 15, 17</td><td>Incarb 1 Incarb 1 </td><td>15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 14.01 kcm 15.05 kcm 15.05 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.03 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 15.01 kcm 15.01 kcm 15.07 kcm</td><td>11.05 y 1 11.05 y 1 11.99 y 1 11.12 y 1 11.12 y 1 11.14 y 1</td><td>(C1) home p (C1) home p</td></td<>	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 05 1 05 05 1 0	1.01 1046 1.01 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE CALLESSEE	0 % Right 8 % Left 5 % Left 7 % Left 1 % Left 3 % Left 8 % Left 4 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 2 % Left 8 %	1.14 minu 8.31 minu 8.31 minu 8.31 minu 8.29 minu 8.31 minu 8.32 minu	84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84. 84.	No.8, 15, 3 No.2, 16, 0 No.2, 16, 0 No.2, 16, 17 No.2, 15, 17 No.2, 15, 17	Incarb 1	15.10 kcm 14.05 kcm 14.01 kcm 15.05 kcm 15.05 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.01 kcm 14.03 kcm 14.04 kcm 14.04 kcm 15.01 kcm 15.01 kcm 15.07 kcm	11.05 y 1 11.05 y 1 11.99 y 1 11.12 y 1 11.12 y 1 11.14 y 1	(C1) home p (C1) home p
	12 duarent log 12 duarent log	2125.002 2.304 2 2021 506 2.314 3 2021 506 31.335 2 2021 506 31.335 34 2021 506 31.335 4 2021 506 31.332 4 2021 506 31.32	1 10000.7777 1 10000.7777	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 03 20 1 04 40 1 03 45 1 03 05 1 05 30 1 0	101 1046 101 1046	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5		0 % Right 8 % Left 7 % Left 7 % Left 8 % Left 9 % Left 9 %	6.14 mises 8.31 mises 8.31 mises 8.31 mises 8.23 mises 8.31 mises 8.32 mises 8	64. 64. 64. 64. 64. 64. 64. 64. 64. 64.	Num, 15, 39 Num, 16, 00 Num, 16, 01 Num, 16, 00 Num, 15, 77 Num, 16, 15, 77 Num, 16, 15, 77 Num, 16, 16, 10	Intanh 1	15 10 Hour 16 05 Hour 16 02 Hour 16 02 Hour 15 75 Hour 16 12 Hour 16 12 Hour 16 03 Hour 16 03 Hour 16 04 Hour 16 04 Hour 16 05 Hour 15 71 Hour 15 77 Hour 15 77 Hour 15 77 Hour 15 17 Hour	18.05 µ 18.95 µ 18.99 µ 17.24 µ 18.19 µ 18.12 µ 18.24 µ 18.30 µ 19.44 µ 19.46 µ 19.	(C1) home p (C1) home p
	12 diverse ling 12 diverse ling 13 diverse ling 14 diverse ling 15 diverse ling 16 diverse ling 17 diverse ling 18 diverse ling 19 diverse ling 19 diverse ling 10 div	2015; 10:00; 22:30; 43 2015; 10:02; 12:43; 33 2015; 10:06; 12:34; 43 2015; 10:06; 13:34; 44 2015; 10:06; 13:34; 44 2015; 10:06; 14:34; 45 2015; 10:06; 14:34; 46 2015; 10:06; 10	1 10000.7777 1 10000.7777 <td>79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658</td> <td>1 00 30 1 00 40 1 00 105 1 00 100 100 1 00 100000000</td> <td>101 1046 101 1046</td> <td>0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5</td> <td></td> <td>0 % Right 8 % Left 7 % Left 7 % Left 12 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 9 %</td> <td>6.14 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.25 roles 8.25 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.33 roles 8.33 roles 8.33 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.33 roles</td> <td>64. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 5</td> <td>No.8, 15.9 No.2, 16.0 No.2, 16.0 No.2, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 15.7 No.4, 15.8 No.4, 15.8</td> <td>Incash I Incash I</td> <td>15 10 koa 14 05 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 04 koa 18 07 koa 15 07 koa</td> <td>18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.12 µ 19.14 µ 19.24 µ 19.</td> <td>(C1) home p (R1) home p</td>	79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658 79658	1 00 30 1 00 40 1 00 105 1 00 100 100 1 00 100000000	101 1046 101 1046	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5		0 % Right 8 % Left 7 % Left 7 % Left 12 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 8 % Left 9 %	6.14 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.25 roles 8.25 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.31 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.33 roles 8.33 roles 8.33 roles 8.32 roles 8.32 roles 8.33 roles	64. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 54. 5	No.8, 15.9 No.2, 16.0 No.2, 16.0 No.2, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 16.0 No.4, 15.7 No.4, 15.8 No.4, 15.8	Incash I	15 10 koa 14 05 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 02 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 03 koa 18 04 koa 18 07 koa 15 07 koa	18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.05 µ 18.12 µ 19.14 µ 19.24 µ 19.	(C1) home p (R1) home p





FES



The stimulation settings can be configured directly on the FES cycle screen along with other cycling parameters (speed, resistance).



i. Default leg stimulation parameters



Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies



Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies





ii. Setting minimum stimulation values

No Volition

- Patient is unable to volitionally move the pedals
- Set mins = 0mA
- The amount of charge necessary for the workload is delivered



Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies

Stimulato	Therapy Interval Train	ing Progre	ssion			
Spasm M	lanagement Stop When Sparm Deter	had	~	Active Transition: Stimula	tion Ramp-Up	1%/s
Motor:	Support Duration Support Offset	30:00 -5 mm	* *	Active: Live Adjustable 🗹	Duration Control Speed	1:00:00 35 rpm
	Torque	15.049 Nm	*	Live Adjustable Automatic Resi	Resistance stance Control	0.5 Nm
Warm-Up	C Duration Speed Ramp-Up Duration	02:00	* * *	Fatigue Detection:	Duration Speed Offset	00:01 -15 rpm
Ma	ax Stimulation In Warm-Up	0%	*	Passive: Skip	Speed Offset Duration	0 rpm 01:00
					Speed Offset	-10 rpm

Volition

- Patient can volitionally move the pedals
 - Could be using compensatory patterns, hip flexors/ abdominals, etc.
- Therapeutic dosage of FES is delivered regardless of crank speed

max

min



e. Physical Set-up for acute care



Copyright © 2019 Restorative Therapies

66

"So to me the sooner you start the better. I mean I could see in the first, you know, 2 months, how quick my legs are shrinking away and I was cycling. So, if you can cycle do it."

- FES Cycling User

Copyright © 2022 Restorative Therapies

6. Before, During, and After Functional Electrical Stimulation Cycling

a. Before the FES cycling session

Nursing team checklist

- Check patient's whiteboard to see if FES cycling session is scheduled for that day.
- Ensure vitals/medical status of patient is appropriate to leave unit prior to appointment time (i.e., after pain meds).
- Ensure meal eaten (i.e., breakfast or lunch), adequate hydration ahead of time.
 - 60-90 minutes prior to prevent gastrointestinal distress, nausea, and/or vomiting)
- Pain/other medications (i.e., gabapentin, baclofen, etc..) given at appropriate time.
 - ♦ 15-30 mins prior to session.
- AM care/hygiene (brush teeth, shower, shave, dressing into clothing).
- Don abdominal binder if needed.
- Don orthotics/braces if needed.
- Toileting routine (catheterization, bowel routine)
- Change soiled clothing/brief
- Transfer up to seating system/wheelchair (based on rehabilitation recommendations/assessment) (e.g., Medilift)
- Ensure other appointments (if possible) are scheduled with sufficient time around this appointment (i.e., X-rays, imaging, labs) – if urgent appointment needed, communicate with rehabilitation staff.



Rehabilitation team checklist:

- Full assessment history, vital signs, appropriate ROM of upper and lower extremities to use the FES cycle
- Clarify any contraindications and precautions with the healthcare team for electrical stimulation (e.g., weight-bearing status for fracture, wounds, grafting, wound vac, new tracheotomy, high respiratory status)
- Determine appropriateness/medical stability
- Tolerance for session time (i.e., 1 hour of sitting upright in wheelchair they will be using for the session)
- Check to see if wheelchair and cushion are appropriate for FES cycling
- Confirm appointment time with nursing day of session (i.e., AM), on patient's whiteboard
- Make computer login ID for patient*
- Appropriate outcome measures (ROM, Muscle circumference, MMT) *first session only

b. During the FES cycling session



Rehabilitation team checklist

- □ Monitor rate of perceived exertion
- Monitor vitals throughout treatment session (pre/during/post vitals)
- □ Monitor for signs and symptoms of autonomic dysreflexia

Tips for a successful FES cycling session

- Keep a close eye on the patient. Don't leave them to bike on their own for 45 minutes.
- Make sure the electrodes don't peel off. Check the electrodes regularly, pat down edges that have lifted, or apply tape.
- Make sure the patient's feet stay in the pedals, check regularly and put their feet back when they slide forward.
- Add resistance if the patient doesn't use 100% of the stimulation levels that you set (depending on how you choose to do the progressions).
- If patients bike volitionally, check their speed regularly, they could be doing 50 RPM when their goal is 35 RPM (depending on how controlled you want the sessions to be).



Autonomic Dysreflexia Event

- Turn off stimulation
- Sit the patient upright
- · Loosen up clothes including abdominal binder and stockings
- Check the foley catheter to make sure foley is not kinked
- Check skin
- Monitor the vital signs every 2-5 min
- If it is not resolved, notify the most responsible physician (MRP) and there should be a medication ordered in the chart.

Code Event-

- If code event is called, the health care team will come to the rehabilitation space for patient care
- Let the unit know where the patient is using the FES bike
- To call CODE BLUE dial the appropriate number for your hospital



c. After the FES cycling session



Nursing and Rehabilitation Team

- Check the skin under the electrodes. Note skin redness that does not go away ~ 1-2 hours after session
- Monitor vitals every 30-60 minutes in case of autonomic dysreflexia
- May need toileting/brief change
- May need extra hydration/nutrition
- May want or need to change out of "exercise clothes"
- May want range of motion exercises
- Transfer back to bed to rest (if patient requests)
- Offer breakthrough pain meds if needed

Documentation

Using the smart phrase below, or the drop-down menu located under RT300, you can document the parameters in your clinical notes.

RT300 {Arm/Leg:27413} Cycle Settings:

ID: *** PIN: *** {RIGHT LEFT BILATERAL:24854} Global Frequency: 40 Hz Global Pulse Width: 250 µs

Channel	Muscle Stimulated	Amplitude(mA)	Pulse Width
LI			Global
L2			Global
L3			Global
L4			Global
L5			Global
L6			Global
RI			Global
R2			Global
R3			Global
R4			Global
R5			Global
R6			Global

Warm up: *** minutes

Active cycling (backwards/forwards): *** minutes/*** minutes Cool down: *** minutes Resistance: *** Nm Control Speed: *** rpm Motor: *** Nm Goals: ***



cycling toolk

7. Sustainable practice and transitions in care

a. Onboarding new team members

To be determined by staff at the site at this time.

b. Electrode ordering and selection



A complete set of electrodes for leg cycling involves a total of 10 muscles, with 5 muscles per leg, requiring 20 electrodes in total. Typically, 3×4" electrodes are employed for all leg muscles, with the 2×3.5" electrodes used for the tibialis anterior in a few cases. Opting for a single electrode size is more convenient. One set of electrodes is designed to last a minimum of one month and can extend to two months or more, depending on variables such as skin type and the amount of body hair present.

For bulk hospital orders, purchase 8 to 16 packages of 20 electrodes. Individual patients should purchase either 1 or 2 packs of 20 electrodes.

c. Vendor information

Axelgaard PALS electrodes for electric stimulation can be purchased from

- <u>Atlas medic</u>
- <u>Amazon.ca</u>
- Performance Health

d. Community resources

FES Community Options - Greater Edmonton Area

Saville Centre	Steadward Centre	YMCA - Castledowns	YMCA - Don Wheaton
Location: South Edmonton	Location: South Edmonton	Location: North Edmonton	Location: Downtown
Carly Frenkel <u>carly.frenkel@ualberta.ca</u> 780-492-7114	Allison Hunder infotsc@ualberta.ca 780-492-8339	Jasmyne Pedersen jasmyne.pedersen@ymcanab.ca 780-377-3720	Allison Piper allison.piper@ymcanab.ca 780-969-8946

FES Assessment - Please note that if you DO NOT have a current FES program already developed, you will need an FES assessment to build an FES bike program specific to you and your needs. Cost of this 2-hour assessment is \$153.

FES Site	Cost	Baseline Level of Support	Scheduling	Extra Site Info	
Saville Centre*	\$18/month	- Machine set-up - Tensor wrapping - Connect pre-placed electrodes - Onsite storage of supplies	- Open Google Calendar or call 780-492-1701 - Book appointments up to 1 week in advance	- Saville fitness centre is located on 2nd floor, if low mobility we suggest a support person	
Steadward Centre	2x/week = ~\$175-\$275 / 4 months 3x/week = ~\$250-\$400 / 4 months	- Full set-up and take-down support - Onsite storage of supplies	- Participant commits to a consistent schedule for 4 months at a time, 2x or 3x/week	- Electrodes available onsite for purchase - FES includes access to all other gym equipment	
YMCA - Castledowns*	<u>18-64 yr = \$33 biweekly</u> <u>65+ yr = \$28 biweekly</u> <u>Plus = \$58.75 biweekly</u>	- Onsite storage of supplies	- Drop-in	- Financial assistance may be available	
YMCA - Don Wheaton*	<u>18-64 yr = \$33 biweekly</u> <u>65+ yr = \$28 biweekly</u> <u>Plus = \$58.75 biweekly</u>	- Onsite storage of supplies	- Drop-in	- Financial assistance may be available	

* For Saville and YMCA sites, first year of fees (FES Assessment, FES riding fees, electrodes) will be covered by SCITCS for individuals with Spinal Cord Injury



Glossary

Amplitude: refers to the intensity or strength of the current being delivered. The amplitude setting controls the amount of current delivered to the nerves and muscles and can be perceived as gentle tingling to more intense electrical sensations.

<u>Frequency (Channel)</u>: measured in Hertz (Hz). It is the number of stimulation pulses delivered per second by one channel.

<u>Frequency (Global)</u>: measured in Hertz (Hz). It is the number of stimulation pulses delivered per second by all channels.

<u>Grade 3 rotator cuff tear:</u> more than ½ th thickness of rotator cuff tear (Ellman classification)

Power: force times velocity that the rider is putting on the FES cycle pedals. It is measured in watts (W).

Pulse width: length of time that each electrical pulse is delivered. It is measured in microseconds (μ s) or milliseconds (ms).

Watt: rate of energy production.

66

"Oh, I attend the gym every week at the [community centre]. So, the FES cycling and the gym at the [community centre] is all in the same facility so, I try to gym and then cycle. I try to go at least 3 times a week."

- FES Cycling User

References

- Musselman K E, Shah M, Zariffa J. Rehabilitation technologies and interventions for individuals with spinal cord injury: translational potential of current trends. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil. 2018;15(1):40. doi:10.1186/ s12984-018-0386-7
- Demchak TJ, Linderman JK, Mysiw WJ, Jackson R, Suun J, Devor ST. Effects of functional electric stimulation cycle ergometry training on lower limb musculature in acute sci individuals. J Sports Sci Med. 2005;4(3):263-271.
- Lai C, Chang W, Chan W, et al. Effects of functional electrical stimulation cycling exercise on bone mineral density loss in the early stages of spinal cord injury. J Rehabil Med. 2010;42(2):150–154. doi:10.2340/16501977–0499
- Fouad K, Metz GAS, Merkler D, Dietz V, Schwab ME. Treadmill training in incomplete spinal cord injured rats. Behav Brain Res. 2000;115(1):107-113. doi:10.1016/S0166-4328(00)00244-8
- Eser PC, Donaldson NdeN, Knecht H, Stussi E. Influence of different stimulation frequencies on power output and fatigue during FES-cycling in recently injured SCI people. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng. 2003;11(3):236-240. doi:10.1109/TNSRE.2003.817677
- Everaert DG, Okuma Y, Abdollah V, Ho C. Timing and dosage of FES cycling early after acute spinal cord injury: A case series report. J Spinal Cord Med. 2021;44(sup1):S250-S255.doi:10.1080/10790268.2021.1953323
- 7. Swaffield E, Cheung L, Khalili A, et al. Perspectives of people living with a spinal cord injury on activity-based therapy. Disabil Rehabil. Published online February 9, 2021:1-9. doi:10.1080/09638288.2021.1878293
- 8. Auchstaetter N, Luc J, Lukye S, et al. Physical Therapists' Use of Functional Electrical Stimulation for Clients With Stroke: Frequency, Barriers, and Facilitators. Phys Ther. 2016;96(7):995-1005. doi:10.2522/ptj.20150464



- Johnston TE, Marino RJ, Oleson CV, et al. Musculoskeletal Effects of 2 Functional Electrical Stimulation Cycling Paradigms Conducted at Different Cadences for People With Spinal Cord Injury: A Pilot Study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;97(9):1413-1422. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2015.11.014
- Martin R, Sadowsky C, Obst K, Meyer B, McDonald J. Functional electrical stimulation in spinal cord injury: from theory to practice. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil. 2012;18(1):28-33. doi:10.1310/sci1801-28
- van der Scheer JW, Goosey-Tolfrey VL, Valentino SE, Davis GM, Ho CH. Functional electrical stimulation cycling exercise after spinal cord injury: a systematic review of health and fitness-related outcomes. J Neuroengineering Rehabil. 2021;18(1):99. doi:10.1186/s12984-021-00882-8
- Hartkopp A, Murphy RJ, Mohr T, Kjaer M, Biering-Sørensen F. Bone fracture during electrical stimulation of the quadriceps in a spinal cord injured subject. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1998;79(9):1133-1136. doi:10.1016/s0003-9993(98)90184-8
- 14. Baldi JC, Jackson RD, Moraille R, Mysiw WJ. Muscle atrophy is prevented in patients with acute spinal cord injury using functional electrical stimulation. Spinal Cord. 1998;36(7):463-469. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3100679
- Chilibeck PD, Jeon J, Weiss C, Bell G, Burnham R. Histochemical changes in muscle of individuals with spinal cord injury following functional electrical stimulated exercise training. Spinal Cord. 1999;37(4):264–268. doi:10.1038/ sj.sc.3100785
- 16. Corbin GN, Weaver K, Dolbow DR, Credeur D, Pattanaik S, Stokic DS. Safety and preliminary efficacy of functional electrical stimulation cycling in an individual with cervical cord injury, autonomic dysreflexia, and a pacemaker: Case report. J Spinal Cord Med. 2021;44(4):613–616. doi:10.1080

/10790268.2019.1692180

- Dolbow DR, Credeur DP. Effects of resistance-guided high intensity interval functional electrical stimulation cycling on an individual with paraplegia: A case report. J Spinal Cord Med. 2018;41(2):248-252. doi:10.1080/10790268 .2017.1367358
- Bloomfield SA, Mysiw WJ, Jackson RD. Bone mass and endocrine adaptations to training in spinal cord injured individuals. Bone. 1996;19(1):61-68. doi:10.1016/8756-3282(96)00109-3
- Crameri RM, Cooper P, Sinclair PJ, Bryant G, Weston A. Effect of load during electrical stimulation training in spinal cord injury. Muscle Nerve. 2004;29(1):104-111. doi:10.1002/mus.10522
- 20. Rayegani SM, Shojaee H, Sedighipour L, Soroush MR, Baghbani M, Amirani OB. The effect of electrical passive cycling on spasticity in war veterans with spinal cord injury. Front Neurol. 2011;2:39. doi:10.3389/fneur.2011.00039
- 21. Dolbow DR, Gorgey AS, Cifu DX, Moore JR, Gater DR. Feasibility of homebased functional electrical stimulation cycling: case report. Spinal Cord. 2012;50(2):170–171. doi:10.1038/sc.2011.115
- 22. Calabrò RS, Portaro S, Tomasello P, Porcari B, Balletta T, Naro A. Paving the way for a better management of pain in patients with spinal cord injury: An exploratory study on the use of Functional Electric Stimulation(FES)-cycling. J Spinal Cord Med. 2023;46(1):107-117. doi:10.1080/10790268.2021.19 61050
- 23. Fattal C, Sijobert B, Daubigney A, et al. Training with FES-assisted cycling in a subject with spinal cord injury: Psychological, physical and physiological considerations. J Spinal Cord Med. 2020;43(3):402-413. doi:10.1080/107902 68.2018.1490098
- 24. Farkas GJ, Gorgey AS, Dolbow DR, Berg AS, Gater DR. Energy Expenditure, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Body Composition Following Arm Cycling or Functional Electrical Stimulation Exercises in Spinal Cord Injury: A 16-Week Randomized Controlled Trial. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil. 2021;27(1):121-134.



doi:10.46292/sci20-00065

- 25. Phillips CA, Danopulos D, Kezdi P, Hendershot D. Muscular, respiratory and cardiovascular responses of quadriplegic persons to an F. E. S. bicycle ergometer conditioning program. Int J Rehabil Res Int Z Rehabil Rev Int Rech Readaptation. 1989;12(2):147-157. doi:10.1097/00004356-198906000-00003
- 26. Duffell LD, Rowlerson AM, Donaldson NDN, Harridge SDR, Newham DJ. Effects of endurance and strength-directed electrical stimulation training on the performance and histological properties of paralyzed human muscle: a pilot study. Muscle Nerve. 2010;42(5):756-763. doi:10.1002/mus.21746
- 27. Tong RKY, Wang X, Leung KWC, et al. How to prepare a person with complete spinal cord injury to use surface electrodes for FES trike cycling. IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot Proc. 2017;2017:801-805. doi:10.1109/ICORR.2017.8009346
- Health Canada. Active device name search results. Published online May 4, 2023. Accessed June 24, 2023. https://health-products.canada.ca/ mdall-limh/information?deviceId=222878&deviceName=RT300-S%20 (ADULT%20VERSION)&licenceId=70774&type=active&lang=eng
- 29. Duffell LD, Donaldson N de N. A Comparison of FES and SCS for Neuroplastic Recovery After SCI: Historical Perspectives and Future Directions. Front Neurol. 2020;11:607. doi:10.3389/fneur.2020.00607
- 30. Chilibeck PD, Bell G, Jeon J, et al. Functional electrical stimulation exercise increases GLUT-1 and GLUT-4 in paralyzed skeletal muscle. Metabolism. 1999;48(11):1409-1413. doi:10.1016/s0026-0495(99)90151-8
- 31. Gerrits HL, de Haan A, Sargeant AJ, Dallmeijer A, Hopman MT. Altered contractile properties of the quadriceps muscle in people with spinal cord injury following functional electrical stimulated cycle training. Spinal Cord. 2000;38(4):214-223. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3100974
- 32. Sijobert B, Fattal C, Daubigney A, Azevedo-Coste C. Participation to the first Cybathlon: an overview of the FREEWHEELS team FES-cycling solution.

Eur J Transl Myol. 2017;27(4):7120. doi:10.4081/ejtm.2017.7120

- 33. Allison DJ, Chapman B, Wolfe D, Sequeira K, Hayes K, Ditor DS. Effects of a Functional Electrical Stimulation-Assisted Cycling Program on Immune and Cardiovascular Health in Persons with Spinal Cord Injury. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil. 2016;22(1):71-78. doi:10.1310/sci2201-71
- 34. Scremin AM, Kurta L, Gentili A, et al. Increasing muscle mass in spinal cord injured persons with a functional electrical stimulation exercise program. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1999;80(12):1531-1536. doi:10.1016/s0003-9993(99)90326-x
- 35. Jeon JY, Weiss CB, Steadward RD, et al. Improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity after electrical stimulation-assisted cycling in people with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord. 2002;40(3):110-117. doi:10.1038/ sj.sc.3101260
- 36. Gurney AB, Robergs RA, Aisenbrey J, Cordova JC, McClanahan L. Detraining from total body exercise ergometry in individuals with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord. 1998;36(11):782–789. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3100698
- Dolbow DR, Gorgey AS, Moore JR, Gater DR. Report of practicability of a 6-month home-based functional electrical stimulation cycling program in an individual with tetraplegia. J Spinal Cord Med. 2012;35(3):182-186. doi :10.1179/2045772312Y.000000007
- 38. Mazzoleni S, Battini E, Rustici A, Stampacchia G. An integrated gait rehabilitation training based on Functional Electrical Stimulation cycling and overground robotic exoskeleton in complete spinal cord injury patients: Preliminary results. IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot Proc. 2017;2017:289-293. doi:10.1109/ICORR.2017.8009261
- 39. Gorgey AS, Graham ZA, Bauman WA, Cardozo C, Gater DR. Abundance in proteins expressed after functional electrical stimulation cycling or arm cycling ergometry training in persons with chronic spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. 2017;40(4):439-448. doi:10.1080/10790268.2016.1229397



- 40. Rennie S. Contraindications and precautions: an evidence-based approach to clinical decision making in physical therapy. In: Electrophysical Agents; 2010:1-3.
- 41. 41. Burri H, Piguet V. UninTENSional pacemaker interactions with transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Card Electrophysiol J Work Groups Card Pacing Arrhythm Card Cell Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2009;11(3):283-284. doi:10.1093/europace/eup008
- 42. Carlson T, Andréll P, Ekre O, et al. Interference of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation with permanent ventricular stimulation: a new clinical problem? Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Card Electrophysiol J Work Groups Card Pacing Arrhythm Card Cell Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2009;11(3):364-369. doi:10.1093/europace/eun351
- 43. Pyatt JR, Trenbath D, Chester M, Connelly DT. The simultaneous use of a biventricular implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) and transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) unit: implications for device interaction. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Card Electrophysiol J Work Groups Card Pacing Arrhythm Card Cell Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2003;5(1):91-93. doi:10.1053/eupc.2002.0277